ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COW TTEE ON FI SHERI ES
January 19, 2005
8: 37 am

MEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Gabrielle LeDoux, Co-Chair
Representative Bill Thomas, Co-Chair
Representati ve Peggy W son
Representative John Harris
Representative JimElKkins

Representative Mary Kapsner
Represent ati ve Wodi e Sal non

MEMBERS ABSENT

Al l nmenbers present

COW TTEE CALENDAR

OVERVI EW DEPARTMENT OF FI SH AND GAME
- HEARD

PREVI QUS COWMM TTEE ACTI ON

No previous action to record

W TNESS REG STER

DOUG MECUM Director

Di vi sion of Commercial Fisheries

Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented an overvi ew of the division

KELLY HEPLER, Director

Di vision of Sport Fisheries

Al aska Departnent of Fish and Gane

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented an overvi ew of the division

REPRESENTATI VE M KE KELLY

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Posed questions to the directors

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -1- January 19, 2005



ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CO CHAIR GABRI ELLE LEDOUX called the House Special Committee on

Fisheries neeting to order at 8:37:00 AM Represent ati ves
LeDoux, Thomas, W Ilson, Harris and Elkins were present at the
call to order. Representati ves Kapsner and Sal nmon arrived as

the neeting was in progress.

OVERVI EW DEPARTMENT OF FI SH AND GAME

8:38: 56 AM

DOUG MECUM Director, Division of Comrercial Fisheries, Al aska
Departnent of Fish and Gane (ADF&G, presented a brief outline

of fisheries authorities, including National Marine Fisheries
Service (NWFS) and the U S. Fish and WIldlife Service Ofice of
Subsi stence Managenent (USFWs - OSM. He explained that the

state Board of Fisheries adopts fishery managenent plans and
makes allocation decisions while ADF&G inplenments those plans
and decisions. The Commercial Fisheries Entry Comm ssion (CFEC)
has the authority to establish noratoria or Ilimted entry
systens for state-managed fisheries. The Departnent of Public
Safety [Alaska Bureau of WIldlife Enforcement] enforces ADF&G
regul ati ons.

8:40:49 AM

MR MECUM stated that ADF&G is the primary state fishery
authority which operates under the federal regulatory reginme as
establ i shed under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and
Managenent Act (M-CMA). The ADF&G has an exclusive economc
zone within 200 mles of U S Coasts. He said that the State of
Al aska has a commssioner's seat and five other seats on the
North Pacific Fisheries Managenent Council (NPFMC), which adopts
regul ations. This council mnakes decisions with respect to Bering
Sea crab, Aleutians Island crab and groundfish, Gulf of Al aska
(GXA) groundfish, and sal non and scallops. The salnon fisheries
in federal waters are nmanaged by ADF&G under del egated
authority, as are the Bering Sea, Aleutians Island and GOA crab
fisheries, and shrinp and sone rockfish species. He said that
the International Pacific Halibut Comm ssion (IPHC) regul ates
the halibut fishery; the state doesn't have managenent authority
for halibut in either federal or state waters. He noted that
[the State of Alaska] also has a seat on the [Pacific Sal non
Comm ssi on] .

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 2- January 19, 2005



8:41: 48 AM

MR. MECUM pointed out that the Division of Conmercial Fisheries
is responsible for managing the commercial fisheries as well as
sone personal use fisheries, and it is the prinmry managenent
authority for the subsistence fisheries. The ADF&G al so
conducts research prograns. The departnent is responsible for
the planning and permtting of fish hatcheries and nmariculture
operations; and also participates extensively in the Board of
Fisheries process, the Pacific Salnon Treaty, Al aska-Yukon
Treaty negotiations, and North Pacific Fisheries Managenent
Counci | .

8:42:46 AM

MR MECUM explained to the conmttee that the Division of
Commercial Fisheries has about 300 full-time and 520 seasonal
enpl oyees. The division is organized into five offices,
i ncluding the headquarters office in Juneau and the follow ng
four regional offices: Southeast Region (Southeast Alaska and
Yakutat), Central Region (Cook Inlet, Prince WIIiam Sound, and
Bristol Bay), Artic Yukon Region (Wstern Al aska, Interior, and
North Slope), and Wstward Region (Kodiak, Bering Sea, and
Al aska Peninsul a). The division has about 40 area offices
around the state.

8:44: 02 AM

MR. MECUM pointed out that, for his division, between fisca
year 2005 (FY05) and FYO6 the general fund (GF) increased by
about $1.34 million. This consists of a $900, 000 increnment that
the division submtted and approved to do expanded stock
assessnent, genetics work, and sonar-verification in the
foll ow ng areas: Copper River, Prince WIIliam Sound, Cook Inlet,
Kenai River, and Bristol Bay. He stated, "Another 500 and sone-
odd thousand dollars is increased enployers' costs, PERS [Public
Enpl oyees' Retirenment Systen. O her than that it's really a
status quo budget.™

MR. MECUM expl ai ned that the value of salnon has gone up in the
| ast couple of years due to the abundance of sockeye, a higher
val ue species, and sone inprovement in prices. He stated that
harvests continue to be very high; over the past 15 years sal non
fisheries have been at record | evels.

8:45: 35 AM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 3- January 19, 2005



MR, MECUM pointed out that salnon made up 15 percent of the
t ot al 2004 Al aska Commerci al Fi sheries Harvest; hal i but ,
shellfish and herring each made up 1 percent; and groundfish
made up 83 percent.

MR. MECUM explained that, even though halibut nade up only 1
percent of the |anded catch, it nade up al nost 17 percent of the
value. Simlarly, the shellfish made up a snmall percent of the
| anded catch, but nade up 13 percent of the val ue.

REPRESENTATIVE HARRIS asked MR MECUM  what his biggest
chal l enges were this year.

8:47:12 AM

MR  MECUM replied that salnon fisheries are in a state of
di stress around the state. The ADF&G is working with a sal non
restructuring panel t hat is an extension of the Joint
Legi sl ative Sal non Industry Task Force. This panel is currently
working on sonme options for restructuring fisheries. He
explained that, in the federal fisheries, "rationalization, for
|l ack of a better term is sonething that's been going on, that's
going to continue to go on". He stated that the division wll
work with the various policy nmakers, the legislature, the Board
of Fisheries, and the council process to restructure the
fisheries to mke them nore economcally viable and to try to
elimnate the race for fish, for safer fishing conditions.

MR. MECUM noted that the D vision of Commercial Fisheries has a
G- budget of about $23 mllion, which, in real terms, is |less
than the budget of 1975. He said that the division has nmade up
a lot of that with federal funds, but while the budget has
remai ned static, the division's responsibilities over the past
15 years have increased dramatically.

8:49: 17 AM

CO CHAI R THOVAS asked M. Mecum if ADF&G planned to weigh in on
the Tul sequah M ne, which he believes will have a major inpact
on the gillnet fishery.

MR. MECUM deferred to the director of the Division of Sport
Fi sheri es, which is responsible for habi t at managenent
permtting.

KELLY HEPLER, Director, Division of Sport Fisheries, answered
that ADF&G is involved and working with the Canadi ans. He said

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -4- January 19, 2005



t hat Ron "Rocky" Hol nes, Regi onal Super vi sor, ADF&G, IS
representing the departnment and nmeking sure that the fisheries
concerns are net.

8:50: 27 AM

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON stated that when the Canadi ans open a m ne
they do a fairly good job bringing in all the stakehol ders at
t he begi nni ng. She said that usually the First Nations and the
environmental i sts are involved, so that everyone gets their say.
She asked if [the State of Al aska]l] has been included in that
process.

MR. HEPLER responded in the affirmative, adding that M. Hol nes
wi |l be attendi ng another neeting in about a nonth -and-a-half.

8:51:28 AM

MR. HEPLER, in response to a question from Representative
Kapsner, said that there are two hatcheries in Anchorage, one
| ocated on Elnendorf Air Force Base and one at Fort Richardson
Arny Base. The hatcheries are about 30 years old and have
failing infrastructures. Furthernore, there have been sone
heati ng concerns; "we've been getting some hot water out of the
bases to raise some fish, particularly Rainbow Trout. We're
| osing those heating sources.” These two hatcheries represent a
|l ot of sport fishing opportunities through the Railbelt area.
He noted that fish from these hatcheries have been shipped to
Juneau and Kodi ak. M. Hepler stated that these hatcheries are
currently producing 25-30 percent of the sport fishing
opportunities, but the hatchery production is falling. Wthin
the next two years, he said, "W're going to lose it down, maybe
50-60 percent of the productions com ng out of those hatcheries
is going to go away." He infornmed the commttee that the ADF&G
received funds to perform an engineering review, which concl uded
that the departnent needs to build two new hatcheries, one in
Fai r banks and one in Anchorage, and raze the current hatcheries.

MR. HEPLER said that the cost of building two new hatcheries
woul d be about $60 million. Additionally, he said that he had a
neeting a year ago to ask "private nonprofits”™ in Southeast
Al aska "what are the needs facing Southeast...particularly on
the sport fishing side, not so much comrercial production...and
tell us what your needs are. So, in conbination of those two,
there's around $63 nillion need."

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 5- January 19, 2005



MR. HEPLER stated that, ideally, he'd like to get that noney
from a bank account, from the G- or from U S Senator Ted

Stevens, "but there's a lot of conpeting needs right now " He
said, "The only way we could think of to realistically be able
to ... build those hatcheries in the tine frane that nakes sense
is to go back and bond these things out. So we ask, if we need
$63 mllion, what's it take to pay a $20 mllion bond off, and
it comes to $5.3 million." In order to raise the $5.3 mllion

t he departnent has proposed the |icense increases.

MR. HEPLER, in response to a request from Representative
Kapsner, re-explained the background on the Anchorage hatcheries
and the |icense increases. He said that the two hatcheries are
producing a lot of fish, adding up to about 15 percent of the
sport fishing opportunity in the Southcentral area. He stated
that there is an imediate need for these to be replaced. By
increasing licenses to pay for the new hatcheries, he said,
"It's hatchery production and it's going to be primarily born on
t he backs of the anglers.™

MR. HEPLER stated that he can't find any information about when
the resident |license fees were last raised, but the |icenses
have remai ned $15 for nore than 25 years.

8:58:11 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KAPSNER expressed concern for people in renote
parts of the state who will not benefit from the hatcheries but
wll be putting noney into them [by paying for |icenses]. She
stated that sone parts of the state are philosophically opposed
to sport fishing and find the nanme itself offensive. She
expressed further concern for the economcally depressed parts
of the state.

MR. HEPLER pointed out that the departnment is not raising the
|l ow-i ncome |icense for people who are econom cally depressed,
which he thinks is defined as having a salary of |ess than
$15, 000. In further response, M. Hepler stated that ADF&G
still has prograns for stock assessment in rural areas that
benefit rural conmunities. If ADF&G cannot raise noney through
license increases, it may need to consider whether it can afford
to keep area offices open in rural areas and perform stock
assessnent. He said, "If we keep people fishing in Railbelt
areas, they're not going to go back in your backyard and go
fishing."

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 6- January 19, 2005



MR. HEPLER stated that people may view this as a tax, but ADF&G
will be able to show a direct benefit fromthis in sport fishing
opportunities.

9:01: 39 AM

MR MECUM in response to Representative Sal non, explained that
the False Pass fishery, like all other fisheries around the
state, is requlated by the Board of Fisheries. At the | ast

neeting, the fisheries board increased fishing tinme considerably
in the Area Mfishery, which has raised a |ot of concern because
many of the stocks in the Yukon and Kuskokw m drainages,
particularly the sumrer run chum and the fall chum sal non, have
fallen below historical levels for a few years. The fisheries
are regulated under nanagenent plans that are adopted by the
board while ADF&G inplenents those plans and ensures the
conservation of the stocks through the energency order
authority. MR. MECUM noted that this year, the first year of
the new managenent regine that was established by the board,
ADF&G was able to neet its escapenent goals. In fact, many runs
have i nproved, chumin particular.

9:03: 34 AM

CO-CHAIR LEDOUX asked if the Kodiak tanner <crab stock is
expected to continue increasing.

MR. MECUM answered that he thinks so, in the short term but no

one can really say what will happen several years out, although
one can look at the recruitnment information from the surveys to
gauge the health of the stock. He said, " ... the quota was

doubled from what is was before; it's a real shot in the armto
t he Kodi ak econony and to the state ... ."

9:04: 24 AM

COCHAIR LEDOUX inquired as to the type of research being
conducted regarding regime shifts.

MR. MECUM explained that the term "regine shift" refers to a
change from a cold-water/cold-tenperature reginme in the ocean to
a warmwater/warmtenperature regine. He said that through nost
of the 1960s and 1970s, there was a cold-water regine and there
was a hi gher abundance of shrinp and crab species. However, now
there is a warm regine, and there is an increase in cod and
pol | ock popul ations, which prey on crab |arvae. The shift in
the ocean-tenperature reginme results in a shift in the ecosystem

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -7- January 19, 2005



and the predator-prey relationship. He infornmed the commttee
that there is not a lot of research that allows one to predict
[ ocean tenperatures]. The North Pacific Research Board is
funding research projects in the northern Pacific Ccean. He
said that nost of ADF&G s research is directly tied to managi ng
the fisheries, not |ong-term research. He noted that ADF&G has
been conducting a trawl survey for shrinp in the GOA which is
indicating that shrinp populations are continuing to increase,
as are sone other species of forage fish.

9:07:55 AM

MR MECUM in response to Co-Chair LeDoux, said that regine
shifts are being tracked in several ways, including mass bal ance
studies on glaciers. Still, it is difficult to tie this
information back to predictive nodels for managed stocks Iike
cod or crab.

9:08:41 AM

MR MECUM in response to Co-Chair Thomas, stated that the
hat chery contributions are nore than 20 percent of the total
statewi de commercial harvest. The major pink salnmon hatchery
production is centered in Prince WIIiam Sound. I n Sout heast
there is a large chum sal non hatchery program He said that the
cost recovery harvest is included as part of the comercial
harvest on the graph [see handout, page 10; "Statew de
Fi sheries"]. He explained that the percentage of salnon taken
by the hatcheries for cost recovery can be anywhere between 20
and 70 percent.

9:10: 47 AM

MR MECUM in response to a query by Representative Sal non,
stated that there are about 36 hatcheries in Al aska. He
clarified that the State of Alaska only operates the two sport
fish hatcheries in Anchorage, although there is one federal
hat chery on Baranof Island, and all the rest are private,
nonprofit hatcheries. M. Mecum said he didn't know how nany
people are enployed by hatcheries, although the hatcheries
contribute greatly to the state's econony.

9:12: 24 AM
REPRESENTATI VE W LSON asked how many of the nonprofit hatcheries

were originally funded by the state and how many have paid the
state back

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 8- January 19, 2005



MR. MECUM expl ained that the state built quite a few hatcheries

"when we had lots and lots of noney"; sone of them were
transferred to the nonprofit organi zations, sonme were built wth
| oans that are being paid off. He said that the |oans were for

operating expenses and other inprovenents and the hatcheries are
payi ng of f those | oans.

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON asked for clarification as to why sone of
the hatcheries were turned over [to private nonprofit
organi zati ons] while sone have to repay the |oans.

MR. MECUM replied that, when the state began to run into fisca
problens, it was determned to be cheaper and nore efficient for
the facilities to be run by nonprofits with the operations
funded by the commercial fishernen. He explained that the sport
fish hatcheries are a different issue than the commercial fish
hat cheri es, and he deferred to M. Hepler for further
expl anat i on. He said, "In essence, all of the hatcheries are
paying off their loans and paying for their expenses through ...
taxes on commercial fishermen and through cost recovery on the
fish that are returning to the hatchery.” He stated that the
two proposed hatcheries would be funded by the increased |icense
fees, so there would be no | oan.

9: 15: 46 AM

CO CHAIR THOVAS asked M. Hepler what ADF&G would do with the
fees once the hatcheries are paid off.

MR. HEPLER replied that this has not yet been decided; he
proposed that perhaps there should be a sunset clause, or maybe
in 20 years there will be a need for a new hatchery.

CO- CHAIR LEDOUX noted that, at the last Board of Fisheries
nmeeting in Anchorage, there was a proposal concerning fish
traps. She asked if ADF&G had any position on that.

9:17:10 AM

MR MECUM said that the main intent of the proposal was to
establish a cooperative; the proponents were |ooking for a way
to pool resources to be nore efficient and to harvest a better
qual ity product. He noted that the setnet fisheries in Kodiak
can sell their fish to sone of the nore high-end markets if they
can increase the quality of the fish. Some bruising and
bl em shing can occur when fishing with setnets, so the fishernman

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 9- January 19, 2005



wanted to develop sone sort of gear that would allow for live
harvest, and therefore a higher quality fish. He pointed out
that fish traps are banned by statute, and that the Board of
Fi sheries cannot authorize a type of gear or activity that is
banned by the | egislature.

9:19: 02 AM

REPRESENTATI VE KELLY asked for further clarification on the
proposed Fairbanks hat chery.

MR. HEPLER clarified that the proposed hatcheries wll have
backup boiler systens.

REPRESENTATI VE KELLY expressed concerns about the closure of the
Cl ear Hatchery in Fairbanks.

9:23: 32 AM

CO CHAIR THOVAS asked if ADF&G is trying to do anything about
over escapenent.

MR. MECUM stated that he is not aware of any overescapenent in
the Copper River; sonetines ADF&G has to curtail the commrercial
fishery to protect the wild stocks, and that's allowed sonme of

the hatchery stocks to go unharvested. The departnment has a
sonar counter in the Copper R ver, but has never had an
i ndependent verification of how well it works.

9:26: 02 AM

CO- CHAI R THOVAS voi ced concern about excessive catch and rel ease
activities which he said can kill the fish.

MR. HEPLER said that ADF&G has produced a lot of literature
describing how to correctly catch and rel ease fish

9:29: 03 AM

REPRESENTATI VE SALMON asked if there are any hatcheries on the
Yukon and Kuskokwi m Ri vers.

MR. MECUM stated that there is sone chinook hatchery production
in Canada, but it's very small. He said that there are no
hat cheries on the Yukon or the Kuskokwi m Ri vers, but people have
tal ked about rehabilitation-type prograns.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -10- January 19,
2005



9:30: 27 AM

CO CHAI R LEDOUX asked if ADF&G has done any anal ysis of the open
oceans aquacul ture proposal by NVFS.

MR. MECUM replied that the departnent has commented on this. He
explained that the governor, in his coments on the US.
Comm ssion on Ccean Policy, called for a five-year noratorium on
open ocean aquaculture while nbre inpact assessnents are

conpl et ed. M. Mecum stated that there should be a strong
public process if NMFS is going to nove forward with this. He
confirnmed that the [ NMFS] proposal is still just a proposal.

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House
Special Commttee on Fisheries neeting was adjourned at 9:33:24
AM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -11- January 19,
2005



